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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

Directors: - lan De Cesare {Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Board)
Kevin De Cesare (Non-Executive Director)
Paut Mercieca {Non-Executive Director)
Victor Spiteri {Non-Executive Director)

Company Secretary: - David Zahra

Bankers: - HSBC Bank Malta p.l.c.,
Commercial Branch,
Republic Street,
Valletta

Registered Office: - Eden Place,
5t. Augustine Street, St. George's Bay
5t. lulians.

The directors of Eden Leisure Group Limited present their report, together with the audited financial statements of the Group and
Company for the year ended 31st December 2022.

Principal Activities

The Group is Malta’s leading operatar in the Leisure and Hospitality industry. The establishments owned and operated by the Group
Include Eden Cinemas, Eden SuperBowl, Cynergi Health & Fitness Club, 89.7 Bay (Radio), InterCantinental Arena Conference Centre
and the Eden Car Park. The Group owns two hotel properties, the largest five-star property in Malta, the InterContinental Malta and
the Holiday Inn Express, both of which are operated by InterContinental Hotels Group. The Group also operates an Esports division
which focuses on Esports activities locally as well as online and offline tournament organisation.

Review of Business and Financial Position

Eden Leisure Group continued with swift recovery post pandemic with an increase in its revenues of 47%, an increase of €10.7M to
€33.3M for the year. The Group registered a profit for the year before tax of €2.4M, an increase of 140% over pretax profits of FY
2021. This was after writing off the net book value of €500k from Property Plant and Equipment due to the demolishing of the cinema
16 block to make way for the new multipurpose development.

On the strength of the increased revenues, the Group registered an operating profit of €9M, an increase of 29% from FY 2021 results.

The results reflect the continuing improvement in all the sectors of the Groups interests. Increased travel and tourism post COVID,
with a rebound in local consumerism resulted in a significantly improved outlook. The Group benefited from 5 months of Government
COVID wage supplement which assisted in containing the costs in a challenging quarter 1 FY 2022 which reflected the continued COVID
uncertainty. Subsequent quarters showed the improvements of a more normalised year.

The Groups cash reserves at the beginning of 2023 remained healthy with the cash generated from operations in 2022 reaching 9.2M.

In 2022, the Group is reporting in its Statement of Comprehensive tncome a revaluation surplus net of deferred tax of €27.5m on its
Property, Plant and Equipment. This is the resuit of the uplift on the land measuring 2,840sqm which is currently being redeveloped
by the Group into a new multipurpose project. The new development will have a gross floor area of approximately 28,300sgm.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 317 DECEMBER 2022

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is set out on page 13. in Jan 2022 the Group received approval from the Planning Authority
for the redevelopment of the second cinema block on St. Augustine Street. Works started immediately and in March the building
housing cinemas 11 to 16 was demolished and excavation commenced. Management was acutely aware of shielding the canstruction
fram the ongoing business especially the hotel business opposite the site. Within the year a decision was made to change the hotel
brand fram Holiday Inn to VOCO which is a new brand of InterContinental Hotel Group reflecting more of an upper 4-star {ifestyle
brand which was felt was more in keeping with the vision of the company.

The new building will be complete by the beginning of 2024 and the project will be completed in stages at different times in 2024. The
€32M cost of the development will be funded through the company’s own funds as well as additional bank borrowings of €25M which
have been granted in January 2023.

The Group faced challenges stemming from the disruptions resulting from the commencement of the multipurpose project. The
removal of the cinema block reduced available theatres from 13 to 7 so another project was revived to finish 2 undeveloped cinema
screens to increase the screen count from 7 to 9. The 2 new state of the art screens were campleted in December 2022 in time for
the blockbuster Avatar 2 at a cost of €1M. The cinema is now a much more efficient operation working out of just one building and
will continue to renovate its theaters over the coming years.

The SuperBowl| was also affected marginally by the new project as it was closed for just under a month in March to prepare for the
building demolition next door and strengthen the structure for the new building above it. These works alse reduced the size of the
footprint of the current Centre by some 500m2 and required the removal of 2 lanes and the addition of new facilities needed to
operate until the inauguration of the new Centre in 2024.

Despite the challenges, the Eptertainment sector performed well with an increase in revenue of 41% over 2021 to £9.4M. All sectors
improved from the prior year with those particularly affected by the COVID closures recovering the most, particularly cinema, bowling
and Cynergi. The rising costs due to inflation had a material effect on direct costs for all segments, as did pressure on wages and
recruitment. One must keep in mind that FY2021 included a full year of COVID wage supplement to mitigate the disruption caused by
the pandemic to our industries and assist with the Group’s largest expense.

The Hospitality sector had the biggest rebound with an increase in revenue of 50% to €24M for the year as travellers started to visit
Matta again. Given the lead times of tourism, Quarter 1 FY 2022 was predictably slow especially as COVID numbers were still high in
Malta at the beginning of the year. However, conference groups started to return in Quarter 2 and the summer was a positive one
despite the difficulties of a construction site across the road and the limited availability of seats on the UK -Malta route in summer
2022 that resulted in prohibitively expensive flight tickets.

Entertainment operating profit for the year hit €1.95M up from €1.6M achieved in FY 2021. On the other hand, the Hospitality sector
had a stronger rebound with operating profits of €7M an improvement of 30% on the €5.4M achieved in FY 2021.

Investrments

FY 2022 saw the introduction of two new Hospitality F&B concepts with the opening of Lubelli Pizzeria in St. George’s Bay and the
introduction of the OPAL Lounge. Lubelli is a Neapolitan wood fired Pizza concept which mixes local craft beer culture in a unique
blend. It opened well in summer and is expected to have a very positive full year in 2023.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

OPAL Lounge was an investment in an under-utilized area of the hotel to create a secondary club lounge experience more adapted to
families. This lounge has 2 interconnected floors. The iower ane is a children’s entertainment area adorned with table soccer, billiards
and darts as well as PlayStations as well as big screen TVs for watching films. It has proven successful in its first year in attracting
families to the hotel.

As indicated previously the Group completed the works on 2 new cinema screens which opened in December 2022 with positive
customer feedback. This continues from the investment in the cinema lobby in FY 2019. In the coming years further investment in the
infrastructure as well as upgrading more cinema halls will continue.

This year the investment will be focused more on the environmental apportunities in energy and water consumption as well as waste
management. As stated below, investments in replacing bedroom apertures, aging kitchen equipment and new technology will be
undertaken in FY 2023, in some cases through funding opportunities. Many of these initiatives would have quick returns on their
investments and would ultimately reduce energy and labour costs and improve customer experience.

Outlook

The outlook for FY2023 is increasingly upbeat for al} areas of the current set of business units. The outiook is exceedingly positive with
projected EBITDA expected to outperform the record FY 2019 year. While the largest gains are expected to come from the hotel
sector, the entertainment sector is also continuing to grow on previous achievements,

With COVID behind us, the concerns remain for airline connectivity, adequate staffing numbers, quality of new staff, the rising costs
of goods as well as the repercussions of the war in Ukraine. While airline and traveler numbers are geiting close to 2019 levels, there
are rumors that our legacy carrier would not fly to as many destinations as before. This issue will be a challenge for FY 2023 and
possibly beyond.,

As well as finetuning the recovery for our existing businesses, the management is looking at various opportunities for growth within
various areas. In addition to new business, the new development will add significantly to the operation of the Group, which require
significant focus over the next year prior to opening.

The existing hotel division is already working above budgets for the year with conference businesses featuring prominently in the
segmentation. Severai long-stay groups and events have had a substantial impact on the hotel in the slower months and summer is
expected to be a strong one again. The hotel business is also expected to surpass 2019 levels and the first quarter in 2023 attests to
that.

The Entertainment segment, similarly, is expected to continue to do well and perform very well,

897 Bay (radio) remains the strongest station for audiences in all age groups between 13-59 and continues to build on that success.
The Company has recently signed a management agreement to rebrand and operate a second FM frequency which will be operational
in 2023,

Cynergi is continually finding ways to provide additional value to its members to be able to grow its membership base. The club is
almost at capacity therefore we are analysing how to better maximize the space and equipment.

The SuperBowl continues to create new concepts to attract the leisure customer in the smaller facilities while it gears up for moving
up into a new facility within the new construction project which will be close to three times its original size.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Cinema attendance has rebounded with customers choosing to see their movies at the cinema again. The loca! cinema industry has
changed substantially since pre pandemic with fewer cinemas and seats in the market. Increased costs from film distributors and food
and drink suppliers which has reduced the profitability, however the Eden Cinemas is now operated more efficiently as it is operating
out of just one building rather than 2.

The first quarter for all areas is proving to be positive and will likely surpass 2019 GOP levels.
Going Concern

The Directors reviewed the Group’s and the Company’s operational budgets and cash flow forecasts. Considering its strong financial
position, the directors confirm that they have a strong reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue in operation for the future.

Reserves

The mavements on reserves are set out in the statement of changes in equity. During the year a dividend of €2.5m was paid to the
shareholders out of retained reserves.

Board of Directors

The directors of the Company who held office during the year were:
lan De Cesare (Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Board)
Kevin De Cesare {Non-Executive Director)

Paul Mercieca (Non-Executive Director)

Victor Spiteri {Non-Executive Director)

David Zahra (Company Secretary)

Audit Committee

This Audit Committee is made up of only external directors and has performed this duat role since 2016, The Audit Committee met
officially 4 times to discuss matters pertaining to the Company as well as Eden Finance plc.

Remuneration Committee

The committee was set up on Sth January 2018 and its main function is to propose the appointment and the remuneration of senior
management of the Group. The members of the committee are Paul Mercieca acting as Chairman and Victor Spiteri as member. The
Committee met several times during the year.

Principle Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s corporate and operational performance is subject to a number of external factors which are common te the hotel industry
and beyond the Group’s control.

The Group is exposed to various risks arising through the use of financial instruments including market risk, credit risk and liguidity
risk, which result from bath its operating activities and investing activities. The most significant financial risks as well as an explanation
of the risk management policies employed by the Group are inciuded in Note 31 of the financial statements.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMIBER 2022

Today the largest risk is no longer derived from Covid but more on connectivity and over development of hotels in the tourism sector,
continued development in St Julian’s, raising costs due to inflation, wage pressure, energy prices and any spillover of the
Russia/Ukraine war.

ESG - Environment Social Governance

Our Sustainability Mission: We built our company on our values which guide the way we conduct business: ethically, environmentally,
and socially responsible. We support universal human rights, respect the law and strive to do business in ways that are good for people
and the planet. We don't simply want to green-wash with a few good deeds, but we are making active strides in becoming a more
sustainable enterprise, holding ourselves to account to ensure we see continuous progress and improvermnent.

Environment

In 2022, the Group embarked on a significant journey to prioritise Environmental, Social, and Governance {ESG} initiatives. A dedicated
ESG team was formed composed of various internal representatives and an external expert advisor to identify areas that needed
improvement within the company's operations and infrastructure, and to develop plans to address these gaps.

One of the major milestones in the process was the completion of the first-ever Carbon Footprint Audit {CFA) for the year 2019,
Although this process was time-consuming and was only finalized in April 2023, it has paved the way for smoother and more efficient
CFAs in the future. Management will soon commence work on the CFA for 2022, and the data obtained from this report will be
instrumental in setting targets to manage and reduce the company's carbon emissions.

Waste management is a critical aspect of E5G in the hospitality industry, and the Group took significant stepsin 2022 to overhaul its
waste management system. This included engaging new contractors, implementing new procedures for waste separation, reduction,
recycling, and measurement, and installing a reverse vending machine to collect and deposit bottles, thus diverting over 500,000
bottles from landfill. As the cost of waste disposal is expected to increase, effective waste separation is crucial to controt costs, as
recycling materials are more cost-effective to dispose of,

Management also focused on understanding and controlling its utilities in 2022. This involved investing further in the most efficient
lighting options, installing light sensors and timers, and water saving aerators in taps and showers to conserve water.

Within the hotels, an audit of all kitchen equipment was completed, which will guide energy-efficient upgrades in 2023/24. Smart
meters have been installed to better measure energy usage, and studies are underway to invest in an inteltigent system for real-time
monitoring of consumption to manage anomalies promptly. Investment has been initiated to upgrade and improve the Building
Management System and the Rooms Management System to control the guest experience as well as to minimize wastage.

ELG initiated several projects in 2022 which will be implemented in 2023 in order to conserve energy, water, waste, and costs. These
inctuded replacing all the hotel apertures for better energy efficiency, implementing drinking water filtration systems to eliminate the
need for bottled water, installing innovative pool systems to conserve water and reduce chemical usage, introducing a second reverse
osmosis (RO) system, replacing individual guest shampoos with refillable ones, and transitioning from plastic to degradable key cards.
ICM also launched a program where guests are asked to specify how often they want their towels and sheets changed to promote
water conservation.

The Group has repurposed one of its large gardens for the growing of several items that it uses in the production of food. From rose
ail te micra greens and all types of herbs the investment will continue to include an artificial grow house to continue to utilize and
maximize the space for growing food for internal consumption.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31% DECEMBER 2022

In addition to operational improvements, ELG introduced a sustainable menu at Lubelli Pizzeria and shifted to using only
eco-friendly consumables,

The newly formed Green & Sacial Team at ELG also coordinated various activities to engage staff in enviranmental conservation
efforts. These activities included clean-up campaigns, including beach, countryside, and underwater clean-ups, promoting Meatless
Monday to encourage healthier and more sustainable diets, and organising visits to Birdlife sanctuaries.

The Group's commitment to ESG initiatives in 2022 reflects its proactive approach towards sustainability and responsible business
practices. The efforts in reducing carbon emissions, improving waste management, canserving resources, and engaging employees in
environmental initiatives are noteworthy achievements that align with its ESG goals.

Social

Corporate Social Responsibility

As part of the Group’s commitment to being a responsible corporate citizen, various initiatives have been undertaken that positively
impact our community and contribute to the well-being of our stakeholders.

One of the key marketing campaigns in 2022 was "Keep Malta Moving," in collaboration with Cynergi, aimed at promoting physical
and mental health through exercise. This utilised advertising on radio and social media to encourage people to prioritize their well-
being through regular exercise, and various activities were organized as part of this campaign.

Blood donation drives was organised, both among employees and the general public, through promaotion on 89.7 Bay. Additionally,
significant donations of used linen, crockery, PV panels, televisions, dog food, towels, carpets, and blankets to various social
institutions, including Hospice, Missio, MSPCA, Inspire, and Luga Animal Sanctuary. Initiatives also included employees contributing
towards gifts for orphans.

in November an agreement was made to collaborate with Istrina to collect funds across all business units, and employees participated
in a footbalt marathon in support of Puttinu Cares. Group employees continue to be encouraged to donate a portion of their monthly
salary to Dar Tal Providenza, which the Group doubled, resulting in a total donation of €4,500.

Pink October activities were organised to raise funds for breast cancer, the Cinema continued to offer autism-friendly and subtitled
movie screenings 10 promote accessibility for those with disabilities, and provided free cinema advertising, movie screenings, and
lunches at the InterContinental hotel for various institutions during Christmas and New Year celebrations.

The Group actively promoted sustainable fashion and the reuse of clothes by collecting several hundred kilos of used clothing and
arganizing two thrift shop events, which raised €5k for Zibel, MSPCA, and Inspire. The commitment to inclusivity extended to providing
free bowling training for the Special Olympics Malta bowling team on an ongoing basis.

Emplayees volunteered at a soup kitchen for a full month and at Dar Tal Providenza, and the Group offered free accommodation to
Ukrainian refugees, demonstrating dedication to serving those in need and making a positive impact on our society.

In conclusion, our CSR initiatives in 2022 exemplify the Groups commitment to being a socially responsible organization, contributing
to the well-being of the community, and promoting sustainability, inclusivity, and ethical practices.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Investing in Heritage

Each year, the Group sets aside €25,000 which it invests in Heritage projects. Its most recent project was supporting Fandazzjoni Wirt
Artna with the restoration of the Guthrie Bridge at fort Rinella, due to be inaugurated in April 2023, This one-of-a-kind mechanical
bridge was built in 1869 and has since fallen into such disrepair that it was discarded and is now being completely rebuilt using the
original methods and materials of the time. This project has finally been completed and the Group is seeking other projects worthy of
this investment.

Employees

2022 saw the employee head count of the Group increase steadily almost back up to pre-Covid levels. This was encouraging for all
employees and helped increase the levels of engagement.

This year the Group introduced the Eden Social & Wellness Programme for all its employees. This programme was designed to provide
all the Group’s employees with tools, social supporti, incentives and strategies to adopt and maintain a healthy lifestyle. All employees
were invited to attend wellbeing sessions an Health Food Preparation, Nutrition, Mindfulness, Happiness, Managing Stress, Achieving
a work-life balance and Technology & Wellbeing, The Group partnered with Richmond Foundation to offer an Employee Assistance
Programme to empioyeesin need of mental health services and emotional support,

In 2022, the Group continued with a significant learning and development programme for all its employees. The Entertainment arm
of the Group organized an Innovation and Creativity Bootcamp for its General Managers and mid-level management to follow. This
included sessions on leading innovation and change, strategic thinking and the art of critical thinking. Senior Management followed
courses with renowned educational institutions on the subjects of Business and Climate Change, Executive Strategy and Strategic
Perspectives on Digital Marketing. Keeping in mind the security of its data the Group ensured that all employees were trained in Cyber
Security Awareness. Employees also followed courses on Microsoft Excel, VAT Refresher and First Aid.

On the hospitality front, employees continued their training on the IHG Way of Clean. Employees were given Pathogen and Food
Allergen training, Food Handling, First Aid and CPR training, Performance Management training as well as training specifically related
to the Guest Experience.

Throughout 2022, there was a focus on team building. Each department organized different activities chosen specifically by the
employees themselves. These included dog walking at animal shelters, archery, visit to a nature reserve, playing ‘bocci’, laser tag,
disco bowiing and other fun activities. The annual employee lunches and employee pool days in summer were held once again. Events
were also organized for the whole family to enjoy such as a trek and picnic in Mizieb and a family cinema day.

Other initiatives throughout the year included a football tournament, a poo! tournament and weekly fithess classes for all employees
to attend. The Group celebrated certain days in the year during which small tokens of appreciation were given out ta all employees
such as Popcorn Day, Pizza day, Valentine’s Day, Employee Appreciation Day, Women’s Day, Easter and Ice Cream day. In order to
meet up with employees and give them an overview of what’s going on within the Group Town Halls were organized bi-annually,

The Employee Recognition Programme continued to recognize hard-working empioyees every quarter for their determination,
commitment and loyalty to the company. This year we also increased the number of Annual awards given out. We recognized
individuals who were given the following awards: Employee of the Year, Leader of the Year, Innovator of the Year, Green Champion
and Community Champion.

The Group is looking forward to continuing these initiatives in 2023 and has exciting plans for the growth and development of its
employees.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are required by the Companies Act {Chap. 386) to prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at
the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss for the year then ended.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors should:-

- prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company
will continue in business as a going concern;

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonzble;

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and the Company and which enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act {Chap. 386), enacted in Malta. This respansibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
such internal contral as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The directors are aiso responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and of the Company, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors

A resolution to reappoint VCA Certified Public Accountants as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting: .

This report wids appyave byiche board of directors on the 25 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

y\_

(

Mr. lan De Ce\sz.are Mr. Kevin De Cesare
Chairman of the Board Director
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VCA Certified Public Accountants t: {+356} 21 333 680
Finance House, First Floor, . {+356) 21 335679

Princess Elizabeth Street, e info@vca.com.mt
50 Ta' Xbiex, XBX 1102, Malta. W www.vea.com.mt

& :
B o S Vat No. MT 2158 - 7124

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Eden Leisure Group Limited, set out on pages 12 to 67, which comprise the Group’s and
the Company’s statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income, statement af changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

tn gur opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
Company as at 31 December 2022, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Companies Act (Cap. 386}, enacted in Malta.

Basls for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (15As). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our gpinion.

independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevarnt to our audit of the financial
statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders} Directive issued in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) in Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code,

Other Information

The directors are rasponsible for the other information. The ather information comprises the company information and the Report of
the Directors but does not include the financial statements or our auditors’ report thereon. Except for our opinion on the directors’
report in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386), our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we da not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based on the wark performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

With respect to the Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the Report of the Directors includes the disclosures required
by Article 177 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Page 9




VCA Certified Public Accountants f: (+386) 21 333680
Finance House, First Floor, i (+356) 21335679

Princess Elizabeth Street, e: info@vca.com.mt

50 Ta' Xbiex, XBX 1102, Malta. wo Wwww.vea.comamt

Q'”o “d\ev Vat No. MT 2158 - 7124
F

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

Other Information (Continued}

Based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, in our opinion:

- the infarmation given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

- the Report of the Directors has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act {Cap.386).

tn addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its enviranment obtained in the course of the audit, we
are required to report if we have identified material misstaternents in the directors’ report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for suchinternal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financiat
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 15As, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. Also, we:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive 1o those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may invalve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control,

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern,

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements {Continued)
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matiers, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independance, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386} we are required to report to you if, in our ppinion:

- Woe have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

- Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us.

- The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

[
i of the audit report has been signed by:

MICHAEL CURMI
for and on behalf of
VCA CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

25 April 2023
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

Revenue

Costs
Direct costs
Other operating expenses

Gross profit

Other operating income

Loss on sale of fixed assets
Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Operating profit
Investment income

Share of losses in associates
Finance costs

Gain on terminatieon of lease agreement
Expected credit loss on related party balance

Profit/({Loss} before taxation

Tax {charge)/credit

Profit/{Loss) for the year

Notes

o

15

13
15

10

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €

33,227,970 22,559,868 7,770,716 5,380,985
(13,730,816) {8,315510} {50,748) {2,691)
(6,418,344) {4,535,925} {178,263} {123,885)
{20,149,160) {12,851,435} {229,011} {126,576)
13,078,810 5,708,433 7,541,705 5,254,409
1,092,116 1,202,141 1,008,788 1,062,810
{499,861) {21,637) (499,861) -
(5,122,026} {3,539,550) (981,188) {761,094)
(4,179,427) {4,293,787) (4,015,743) (3,979,610)
4,369,612 3,055,600 3,053,701 1,576,515
- - 303,791 -
{698) {506} - -
{2,017,352) {2,025,623) {2,020,611) {2,027, 289}
- 59,496 - -
- {113,539) - {113,539}
{2,018,050) {2,080,172) {1,716,820) {2,140,828}
2,351,562 975,428 1,336,881 {564,213)
{1,179,598) 744 (820,801) 472,069
1,171,964 976,172 516,080 {92,244}
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 315" DECEMBER 2022

Profit/{Loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of debt instrurnents at fair value
through other comprehensive income net of deferred
Tax

Revaluation surplus net of deferred tax

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit/{Loss} attributable to:

Equity halders of the company
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interest

Notes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
1,171,964 876,172 516,080 {92,244)
18 {70,704) {61,087) (70,704) (61,087)
24 27,535,611 - 21,105,961 =
27,464,907 {61,087) 21,035,257 {61,087}
28,636,871 915,085 21,551,337 {153,331)
1,171,980 976,204 516,080 {92, 244)
{16) (32) - -
1,171,964 976,172 516,080 {92,244)
28,636,887 915,117 21,551,337 (153,331)
(16) {32} - -
28,636,871 815,084 21,551,337 {153,331)
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 317 DECEMBER 2022
Notes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

ASSETS £ £ € £
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 176,964,866 148,650,143 162,950,696 142,103,839
PPE under development 12 4,641,204 320,958 4,641,204 320,958
Right-of-use assets 13 1,423,419 1,490,917 - -
Investment property 14 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000
Investment in subsidiaries 15 - - 2,676,130 2,676,120
Investment in associates and joint ventures 15 716,591 717,289 225,642 225,642
Trade and other receivables 16 4,475,701 5,977,952 4,475,701 5,977,952
Deferred tax asset 19 584,416 1,664,748 105,474 632,130

205,556,197 175,572,007 191,824,847 168,686,651
Current assets
Inventories 17 2,123,087 2,076,621 1,826,947 1,808,149
Trade and other receivables — Current 16 4,948,251 5,021,361 6,708,564 9,074,165
Firancial |nstrume.nts. at fair value through 18 973,362 1,081,963 973,362 1,081,963
other comprehensive income
Cash at bank and in hand 27 4,347,493 9,776,834 2,169,063 4,686,260

12,352,193 17,956,779 11,677,936 16,650,537

Total Assets 217,948,390 193,528,786 203,502,783 185,337,188
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31°" DECEMBER 2022
Notes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES € € € £
Equity
Share capital 23 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000 60,000,000
Revaluation reserve 24 60,955,818 33,490,911 51,820,763 30 385,506
Fair value gain reserve 25 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734
Retained earnings 9,926,230 11,254,250 17,654,510 19,638,430
Total Equity attributable to holders of the company 135,421,782 109,284,895 133,615,007 114,563,670
Non-controlling interest {1,034) {1,018) - -
Total Equity 135,420,748 109,283,877 133,615,007 114,563,670
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 1,763,413 1,560,975 1,243,650 769,227
Borrowings 22 45,474,819 48,643,396 45,474,819 48,643,396
Lease liabilities 13 1,537,372 1,563,137 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 19 18,532,608 15,473,096 17,148,917 14,803,810

67,308,212 67,240,604 63,867,386 64,216,433
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 11,896,329 13,702,538 2,723,765 3,295,499
Current income tax liability 21 56,192 56,050 55,480 52,984
Berrowings 22 3,241,145 3,208,602 3,241,145 3,208,602
Lease liabilities 13 25,764 37,115 - -

15,219,430 17,004,305 6,020,390 6,557,085
Total Liabilities 82,527,642 84,244,909 69,887,776 70,773,518
Total Equity and Liabilities 217,948,390 193,528,786 203,502,783 185,337,188

These financial stat
its behalf by:-

Mr. lan De Cesh_r,e/- t‘fmirnfa?

re roved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on the 25 April 2023 and signed on

flir

Mr. Kevin De Cesare — Director
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Group

Balance as at 31%
December 2020

Prefit for the year
Changes in FV through OCI

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with cwners in
their capacity as owners:

Reduction in minarity
interest holding

Balance as at 31%
December 2021

Profit for the year
Changes in FV through OCI
net of deferred tax
Revaluation surplus net of
deferred tax

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners in
thelr capacity as owners:

Dividends

Balance as at 31%
December 2022

. Non-
G e newe R o Tom
p g & Interest
€ € € € € € €
50,000,000 33,551,998 4,539,734 10,375,229 108,466,961 (98,169) 108,368,792
- - - 976,204 976,204 {32) 976,172
- (61,087) = - {61,087) - {61,087)
- {61,087} - 976,204 915,117 (32) 915,085
- - - (67,183 {97,183) 97,183 -
60,000,000 33,490,911 4,539,734 11,254,250 109,284,895 (1,018) 109,283,877
= i < 1,171,980 1,171,980 {16) 1,171,964
e (70,704) = = (70,704) = (70,704)
— 27,535,611 . - 27535611 - 27535611
— 27,464,907 - 1,171,980 28,636,887 {16) 28,636,871
- . - (25000000  {2,500000} - {2,500,000)
50,000,000 60,955,818 4,539,714 9,926,230 135,421,782 (1,034) 135,420,748
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

Company

Balance as at 317 December 2020
Loss for the year

Changes in FV through OCt

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 317 December 2021

Profit for the year
Changes in FV through OC net of deferred tax

Revaluation surplus net of deferred tax

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends

Balance as at 317 December 2022

Share Revaluation Fair value Retained Total
capital Reserve BAiNns reserve earnings
£ € € € €
&0,000,000 30,446,593 4,539,734 19,730,674 114,717,001
- 5 = {92,244) {92,244)
- {61,087) - - {61,087}
- {61,087) - {92,244) {153,331)
£0,000,000 30,385,506 4,539,734 19,638,430 114,563,670
= = s 516,080 516,080
= {70,704) - - {70,704}
- 21,105,961 - - 21,105,961
- 21,035,257 - 516,080 21,551,337
= = = {2,500.000) {2,500,000;
60,000,000 51,420,763 4,539,734 17,654,510 133,615,007
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31*" DECEMBER 2022

Cashflow from operating activities
Profit/{Loss) before taxation

Adjustrments for;

Depreciation and amartisation

Finance ¢osts

Amortisation of finance issue costs

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Gain on termination of lease agreement
Impairment of financial assets

Provision for and write off of doubtful debts
Share of results of associates

Rental concession

Operating profit before working copital changes

Meoevement in inventories

Movement in receivables/ group company balances
Movement in payables/ advance deposits

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Cashflow from investing activities

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets
Payments to acquire investment in subsidiary
Payments to acquire financial assets at FvOCI
Fixed-term deposits

Receipts from other related parties

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cashflow from financing activitles
Repayment of bank borrowings

New bank borrowings

Advances ta third parties

Advances fram non-minority interest
Principal element of lease payments
Dividends paid

Net cash flows used in finoncing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year

Cash and cash eguivalents at the end of the year

Notes Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €

2,351,562 975,428 1,336,881 {564,313)
4,179,427 4,293,787 4,015,743 3,979,610
2,017,352 1,978,497 2,020,611 1,980,163
47,126 47,126 47,126 47,126
499,861 21,637 499,861 -
- {59,496) - -
- 57,356 - 43,446
97,962 74,380 - 70,093
698 506 - -
- {62,500} - -
9,193,988 7,326,721 7,920,222 5,556,125
{46,466) 121,774 {18,798) 108,847
1,477,399 (606,763} 3,756,286 {419,859)
{1,611,387) 2,423,817 {104,943) 768,351
9,013,534 9,265,549 11,552,767 6,013,464
{2,010,310) {2,002,344) {2,013,153) {2,008,588)
(61,053) {50,986) (142,012} {48,210)
6,942,171 7,212,219 9,397,602 3,956,666
{6,651,651) {1,222,742) (6,231,639) {1,202,892)
- - - {100,000)
- {300,000) - {300,000)
- 1,250,000 - 1,250,000
- 7,825 - 7,825
(6,651,651) {264,917) {6,231,639) {345,067}
(3,183,160) {963,398) (3,183,160} {963,398}
- 387,489 - 387,489
- {69,378) - {65,378)
- - - 254,999
(36,701} {114,756) - -
{2,500,000) - (2,500,000) -
{5,719,861) {760,043) (5,683,160) {390,288}
{5,429,341) 6,187,259 {2,517,197) {3,221,311)
9,776,834 3,589,575 4,686,260 1,464,949
27 4,347,493 9,776,834 2,169,063 4,686,260
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

1.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS) as adopted by the EU and in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act {Cap. 386).

These financia! statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the fair vatuation of the land
and buildings class of property, plant and equipment, investment property and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at fair value through profit or loss.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and on the going concern basis.

Going Concern

Management concluded that as a result of the strong financial position of Group and Company together with the measures
adopted by management to address and mitigate the impact of the pandemic, the Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

Accordingly, based an information availabte at the time of approving these financial statements the Directors have reasonable
expectation that the Group and the Company will meet all its obligations as and when they fall due over the foreseeable future
and therefore, that the going concern basis adopted for the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements
is appropriate.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2022

In 2022, the Group adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting period beginning on 1 fanuary 2022. Other than changing its accounting policies for certain modifications of
leases where the Group is a lessee, the adoption of these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not
result in substantial changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the date of authorisation
for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for the Group's accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2023. The
Group has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements of IFRS’s as adopted by the EU and the Company’s directors are
of the opinion that there are no requirements that will have a possible significant impact on the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period of initial application.

Principal accounting policies
A summary of the more important accounting policies, which have been applied consistently, is set out below:

Busis of consolidation

{i} Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Company. The Company controls an investee when the Company is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involverment with the investee and has the ability to affect thase returns through its
power over the investee.

The Group financial statements include the financial statements of the parent Company and all its subsidiaries. The resuits of
the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the Group statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of their acquisition or up to date of their disposal.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 2157 DECEMBER 2022

2. Principal accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation {continued)}

{i} Subsidiaries {continued)
Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this resufts in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, cash flows and any unrealised gains relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of contral, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including any goodwill), liabilities, nan-
controlling interest, and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for on the basis of the direct equity interest
and are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Dividends from the investment are recognised in profit or loss.

(it} Associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control
or joint contro! over those policies.

Under IFRS 11 - “Joint Arrangements’, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure
of the joint arrangement. The Group has investments in joint ventures,

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, an investment in an associate or joint venture is
recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit ar loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of [osses
of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or jeint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses, Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constrictive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. The financial results of associates and
joint ventures are taken from the latest audited financial statements.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate or joint venture of the Group, profits and lasses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

The requirements of 1AS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) s tested for impairment in accordance with |AS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for on the basis of the direct
equity interest and are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Dividends from the investment are recognised
in profit or loss.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 317 DECEMBER 2022

2. Principal accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation {continued)

(i) Joint venture
A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint contral. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights 1o the net assets of the arrangement.

Property, plont & equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently, land and buildings are stated at market value,
based on valuations by external independent valuers, less depreciation. Revaluations are carried out at regular intervals, but at
least every five years, unless the directors consider it appropriate to have an earlier revaluation, such that the carrying amount of
praperty does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Assets
in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are classified as property, plant and equipment
under development and are carried at cost, less any identified impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Company's accounting pelicy on borrowing costs. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are available for use.

Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure on repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an
expense when incurred.

Any revaluation increase arising on the reval uation is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of revaluation surplus unless it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or
loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying
amount arising on the revaluation is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the
revaluation surplus relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. When the asset is derecognised, the attributable revaluation
remaining in the revaluation surpius is transferred to retained earnings.

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from their use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the
carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. On disposal of a revalued asset, amounts in the
revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings,

Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets are available for use and is charged to profit or loss so as to write off the
cost or revalued amount, less any estimated residual value, over their estirmated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on
the following bases:

Freshold buildings 2%
Mator vehicles 20%
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10%
Computer equipment 25%
Equipment 7% — 207
Other fixed assets 7%

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite fife. The depreciation method applied, the residual value
and the useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Principal accounting policies {continued)

Investment property

Praperty that is held for long-term rental yields ar for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property. Investment property comprises freehold and leasehold land and buildings, and land and
buildings held under long term operating leases.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
property s stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are recognised in profit or {oss in the period in which they arise. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is nat available, the Group
uses alternative vatuation methods such as recent prices an less active markets or discontinued cash flow projections. These
valuations are reviewed periodically by the Group directors.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other factors, rental income from current leases and assumptions about
rental income from future leases in the light of current market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash
outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
assaciated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the profit loss account during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the
date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. Property that is being canstructed or developed for future use
as investment property is classified as property, plant and equipment and is stated at cost until construction or development is
complete, at which time it is reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment property.

An item of praperty, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed, any difference resulting
between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of
property, plant and equipment under JAS 16. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is
recognised in the income statement,

Investment property is derecognised on disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Gains or losses on derecognition represent the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if
any, and the carrying amount and are recognised in profit or lass in the period of derecognition.

Financiol instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

The Group recognises a financial asset initially at fair value in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised whan the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Page 22



EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

2. Principal accounting policies [continued])
Financial instruments {continued)

Financial assets {continued)
Classification and subsegquent measurement

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group’s and the Company's debt instruments principally comprise loans and advances to other
undertakings and investments,

The Group’s debt instruments are subsequently measured at either amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive
income, and at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
Financial assets measured at omortised cost

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost when:

- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold firancial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of pringipal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principat repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised
cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any ioss allowance, measured in accordance with the Group's accounting policy
‘impairment of financial assets’ further below.

Changes in the carrying amount of financial assets carried at amortised cost, as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses,
impairment gains or losses and interest income are recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition, any difference between the
carrying amount and the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss and is presented separately in the line item ‘Gains
and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost’.

Financial ossets meosured at foir value through other comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCl, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reciassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/{losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other
operating income/{losses), and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss, when
material.
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31" DECEMBER 2022

2. Principal accounting policies {continued)
Financiol instruments (continued}
Financial nssets fcontinued)
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or foss
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCH are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that
is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within “fair value gains/{losses) on financial

instruments at FVTPL in the period in which it arises.

Impairment of financial assets

In terms of IFRS 9, the Group and the Company applies an expected ¢redit loss ("ECL”) model as opposed to an incurred credit loss
model under IAS 39. The Group and the Company have to assess on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income.

For trade and other receivahles, the Group and Company applies the simplified approach and recognises lifetime ECL. The ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the respective Companies’ historical credit loss experience
based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Company uses the general approach, which requires an assessment as to whether the
counterparty has experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. This assessment forms the basis as to
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised and is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition instead of evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.
See note 31 for further details.

Financial liahilities

The Group recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomesa party to the contractual provision
of the instrument. The Group's financial liabilities are classified as financial liabiities which are not at fair value through profit or
loss. These financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transactions
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. The Group derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Madifications to existing financia! liabilities are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original fiability and the recognition of
a new financial liability if the modification represents a substantial modification. The Group considers that the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, inciuding any fees paid, is at least
10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flow of the original financial liability.

Where maodifications to financial liabilities are not substantial, the Group discounts the present value of the revised cash flows
using the original effective interest rate. The difference between the revised present value and the carrying amount of the original
financial liability Is recognised in profit or loss at the date of the modification.
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2. Principal accounting policies {continued}
Financiol instruments {continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from custamers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. They
are generally due for settlement within 90 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value, The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s
impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided in palicy ‘impairment of financial assets’ and note 31.

Trade ond other payables
Trade payabtes are classified within current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 menths from the reporting period. They
are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting is immaterial,

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the companies within the Group have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing bank overdrafts are carried at face value in view of their short-term maturities.

Ordinary shares issued by the Company
Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classified as equity instruments.

Dividends
Ordinary shares issued by the Company are ¢classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

fnventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and
comprises expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated price at which stocks can be sold in the course of business less
anticipated costs of selling. Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are presented in current liabilities on the statement of financia!
position. Bank deposits that the directors do not consider a component of cash equivalents, are presented separately in the
statement of financial position.
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2. Principal accounting policies fcontinued)

Provisions

Pravisions are recognised when the Group’s Companies have a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

All non-financial assets are tested for impairment except for investment property measured at fair value through profit or loss. At
each balance sheet date, the carrying amount of assets is reviewed to determine whether there is any indication or abjective
evidence of impairment, as appropriate, and if any such indication or objective evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated. An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount,

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value {which is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date) less costs of disposal and value in use
{which is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset}. Where the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount, as calculated. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units),

Impairment losses are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case, the impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed
the amount in the revaluation surplus for that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in a prior year is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Revenue recognition
{i) Hospitality

Revenue from hospitality includes revenue from accommodation, food and beverage services, and other ancillary services, The
substantial majority of services are provided to customers during their stays in one of the Group’s hotels, and, depending on the
type of booking, some services, would generally be amalgamated into one ‘contract’ {for example, bed and breakfast}.

Each of the services rendered is assessed to be a distinct performance obligation, and if applicable, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each of the services rendered to the customer on a relative basis, based on their stand-alone selling price.
Revenue from such operations is recognised over time since the customer benefits as the Group is performing; the majority of
revenue refates to accommodation {i.e. the amount allocated to such performance obligation is recognised over the customer’s
stay at the respective hotel).
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2. Principal accounting policies fcontinued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(i)  Advertising

The Group, primarily through its Bay Radio station, provides advertising and production services, Advertising services include
allowing customers to air adverts on the station, and contracts are typically agreed for a fixed price per spot. Revenue from such
services is recognised over time, as the spot is aired. Any deposits received upfront in arder to secure spots are deferred within
accrued income until aired.

{iii)  Cinema tickets and kiosk

The Group owns the Eden Cinemas comptex which includes 9 cinema theatres and various kiosks. Revenue from the screening is
recognised over the period of time of the screening. Customers have the ahility to prepay for screening through online facilities,
in which case, revenue is deferred until the service is provided. Goods sold from the kiosks are recognised as they are delivered to
the customer.

{iv)]  Entertainment complex and other services

Revenue for these services include revenue generated from the Group's Eden Superbowl complex, esports activities, and other
ancillary services. Services provided from the Eden Superbowl complex, including use of bowling alleys and bar, are recognised
over the period of use, or upon consumption, as applicable.

Revenue from esports services include revenue from sponsorship agreements and tickets providing admission to events organised
by the Group. The transaction price for such services is fixed and revenue is recognised over time, as the event takes place.

vl Car parking facilities

The Group charges car parking entrance fees, which are either a fixed amount or calculated by the hour. Revenue is recognised
over time in the amount in which the Group has a right to charge.

fvi)  Health and fitness centre

The Group is the owner of the Cynergi health and fitness club in St Julian’s. Fees range from one-year membership fees to day
entry fees. In all cases, revenue is recognised over the period of time that the customer can use the services provided. Any
membership fees received in advance are recognised within deferred income upon receipt.

{vii)  Servicing of timeshare apartments

The Group provides pravision of management services of timeshare apartments owned by third parties. Contracts for such services
are subject to a fixed fee and have a term of one year, although they may be renewed for further periods subject to renegotiation.
The Group provides various distinct services when carrying out its obligations under such arrangements, however, views its
obligation as one performance obligation satisfied over the term, in accordance with IFRS 15's series guidance. Revenue in relation
to such arrangements is therefore recognised aver time. Any amounts paid in advance are recognised within deferred income and
released to profit or loss over time.
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2. Principal accounting policies {continued)
Revenue recognition {continued)
{viii} Muonogement services

The Company provides management services to its subsidiaries. Such services have been assessed to fall within scope of the IFRS
15 series guidance, such that they are recognised as one performance obligation over time during the contract term.

fix)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include the costs incurred in obtaining external financing. Borrowing costs directly attributable ta the acquisition,
construction or production of gualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised from the time that expenditure for these assets and borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare these assets for their intended use or sale are in progress. Borrowing costs are
capitalised until such time as the assets are substantiatly ready for their intended use or sale. Borrowing costs are suspended
during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All other borrawing costs are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss in the periad in which they are incurred.

teases

Where the Group is a lessee, with the exception of short-term leases and leases of low value assets, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which a leased asset is available for use by the Group. Further details on
the Group's accounting policy, and a summary of its leasing arrangements as a lessee is described in note 13.

The Group has applied COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions — Amendment to IFRS 16. The Group applies the practical expedient
allowing it not to assess whether eligibie rent concessions that are a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease
modifications. The Group applies the practical expedient consistently to contracts with similar characteristics and in similar
circumstances. For rent concessions in leases to which the Group chooses not to apply the practical expedient, or that do not
qualify for the practical expedient, the Group assesses whether there is a {ease modification.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group or the Company is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying
asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective assets leased out under
operating leases are incfuded in investment property in the balance sheet.

Medifications to operating leases where the Group is the lessor are accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments far the new
lease.

Taxation

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or in equity, as
appropriate.

Current tax is based on the taxable resuit for the period. The taxable result for the period differs from the result as reported in
profit or loss because it excludes items which are non-assessable or disallowed and it further excludes items that are taxable or
deductible in other periods. it is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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2. Principal accounting policies {continued])
Taxation {continued)

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantialiy enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined assuming the property will
be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax in relation to the revaluation of land and buildings is charged or credited to other comprehensive income (to the
extent that the revaluation is recognised in other comprehensive income). For buildings, deferred tax is recognised on the basis
that the tax will be recovered through use (i.e. the carporate rate of tax in Malta), whilst land is expected to be recovered through
sale. Deferred income tax on the difference between the actual depreciation on the property and the equivalent depreciation
based on the histerical cost of the property is realised through the income statement.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets, including deferred
tax assets for unused tax losses and unused tax credits carried forward, are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be avaitable against which deductible temparary differences (or the unused tax losses and unused tax credits} can be
utilised to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on the tax rates that have been enacted by the
balance sheet date, Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group’s Companies have a legally enforceable right to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Foreign currencies

items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
enviranment in which the entity operates {"the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency are translated at the exchange rates ruling on the date of transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are re-translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate ruling at year-end. Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the re-translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liahilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency that are measured at fair value are re-translated using the exchange rate ruling on the date the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency that are measured
in terms of historical cost are not re-translated. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker
{"CoDM™).

The board of Eden Leisure Group ple, with the guidance of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, (collectively, “the
Board"), assesses the financial performance and position of the Group and make strategic decisions. The Board has been identified
as being the CODM.
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2,

Principal accounting policies {continued)}

Related parties

Related parties are those persons or bodies of persons having relationships with the Company as defined in International
Accounting Standard No. 24.

Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received,
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to income are recognised in profit or 10ss over the periods necessary to mateh themn with the related
costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Such grants are presented as part of profit or loss.

Government grants related to assets are presented in the statement of financial position by deducting the grant in arriving at the
carrying amount of the asset. The grant is recognised as income over the life of the depreciable asset by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

In the opinion of the Group’s directors, except as follows, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their description as
critical in terms of the requirements of 1451 {revised).

Fair vaiue of property, plant and equipment and investment property

The Group uses valuation techniques when estimating the fair values of property, plant and equipment and investment property.
The directors consider the key inputs into such valuations to represent critical accounting estimates.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties with respect to the fair values of the Group’s property, plant and
eguipment, and investment property, is included in note 11.

Expected credit loss allowances on loans and advances

Credit loss allowance represent management’'s best estimate of expected credit losses in the financial assets subject to IFRS 9
impairment requirements at the balance sheet date. In this respect the directors are required to exercise judgement in defining
what is considered to be a significant increase in credit risk and in making assumptions and estimates to incorporate relevant
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions. The Group and Company use the PD, LGD
and EAD models in assessing loans and receivable and the provision matrix mode! for trade receivables to support the
measurement of ECL. Following these assessments, the ECL was deemed to be immaterial and therefore no expected credit loss
was recognised in the financial statements (2021: €113,539).

Page 30



EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

4, Segment information and revenue from contracts with customers
4.1 Segment information

This note discloses information regarding the Group’s reportable segments. The Company is not required to and does not
present segment information. However, it presents the information on its revenue from contracts with customers in note 4.2.

The standard requires a “management approach” under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that
used for internal reporting purposes. The Group’s CODM, consisting of the board of directors snd the chief executive officers
and chief financial officer examine the Group’s performance namely from an industry/product perspective and has identified
two reportable segments - hospitality and entertainment and other related operations.

The CODM assesses performance based on the measure of EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation) and revenue of the operating segments.

The Group is not required to report a measure of total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment since such amounts
are not regularly provided to the CODM. Additionally, since all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in Malta, the
geographical information that would have otherwise been required by (FRS 8, is not presented in these consolidated financial
statements.
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4. Segment information and revenue from contracts with customers [continued)

4.1 Segment information (continued)

2022 Entertalnment & Hospitality
other related o :‘: atlons Unaliocated Total
Operations P

€ € € €
Revenue 9,809,450 23,788,938 - 33,598,388
Less: inter-segment saies (370,418) - - {370,418}

9,439,032 23,788,938 - 33,227,970
Segment profit 1,948,966 7,026,462 - 8,974,928
Royalty fee {1,018,144) - - (1,018,144}
Segment profit after Royaity fee 930,322 7,026,462 - 7,956,784
Qther operating income - - 1,092,116 1,092,116
Loss on sale of fixed assets - - {499,861} {499,861)
Group EBITDA 930,322 7,026,462 592,255 8,549,039
Depreciation and amortisation - - (4,179,427} {4,179,427)
Share of losses of associates - {698} - {698)
Finance costs - - {2,017,352) {2,017,352)
Provisian on investment in related party - - - -
Profit/{Loss) before tax 930,322 7,025,764 {5,604,524) 2,351,562
Tax charge - - {1,179,598) {1,179,558)
Profit/(Loss) for the year 930,322 7,025,764 {6,784,122) 1,171,964
Other comprehensive income
Loss on Fl through OCI net of deferred tax - - {70,704} {70,704
Revaluation surplus net of deferred tax - - 27,535,611 27,535,611
Total other comprehensive income - - 27,464,907 27,464,907
Total comprehensive income 930,322 7,025,764 20,680,785 28,636,871
Segment assets non-current 40,397,871 109,57%,226 55,579,100 205,556,197
Segment assets current 3,587,673 3,175,720 5,628,800 12,352,193

43,985,544 112,754,946 61,207,900 217,948,390

Segment liabilities non-current 407,057 2,380,842 64,520,313 67,308,212
Segment liabilities current 5,466,018 5,823,809 3,929,603 15,219,430

5,873,075 8,204,651 68,449,916 82,527,642
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8. Segment information and revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
4.1 Segment information (continued)

2021 Entertainment &

other related Hosplt:_allty Unallocated Total
. DOperations
Operations
€ € € €
Revenue 7,190,345 15,851,346 — 23,041,695
Less: inter-segment sales {481,827) - - (481,827)
6,708,522 15,851,246 - 22,559,868
Segment profit 1,560,428 5,384,792 - 6,945,220
Royalty fee {776,337} - - {776,337)
Segment profit after Royaity fee 784,091 5,384,792 - 6,168,883
Other operating income - - 1,202,141 1,202,141
Loss on sale of fixed assets {21,637} - - (21,637}
Group EBITDA 762,454 5,384,792 1,202,131 7,349,387
Depreciation and amortisation - - {4,293,787) (4,293,787)
Share of losses of associates - (506} - {506}
Gain on termination of lease agreement - 59,496 - 59,496
Finance costs - - {2,025,623) [2,025,623)
Provision on investment in related party - - {113,539) {113,539)
Profit/|Loss) before tax 762,454 5,443,782 {5,230,808) 975,428
Tax credit - - 744 744
Profit/[Loss) for the year 762,454 5,443,782 {5,230,064) 976,172
Other comprehensive income
Loss on Fl through OC - - (61,087) {61,087)
Total other comprehensive income - - (61,087) {61,087)
Total comprehensive income 762,454 5,443,782 {5,291,151) 915,085
Segment assets non-current 38,203,166 118,298,253 19,070,588 175,572,007
Segment assets current 2,863,553 2,649,587 12,443,639 17,956,779
41,066,719 120,947,840 31,514,227 193,528,786
Segment liabilities non-current 501,229 2,622,883 64,116,492 67,240,604
Segment liabilities current 6,293,251 7,087,087 3,623,967 17,004,305
5,794,430 9,709,970 67,740,459 84,244,909
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4. Segment information and revenue from contracts with customers {continued)

4.2 Revenue from contracts with customers

{i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € €

Entertainment and related operations segment

- Advertising and sponsorship agreements 2,674,051 2,296,407 w= =
- Entertainment and related services 6,443,483 4,171,094 = =
Hospitality segment

- Accommodation and related services 22,426,720 14,530,939 - -
- Other services 1,362,218 1,320,407 . =
Operating fees charged to subsidiaries = - 7,400,000 5,100,000
Other sundry services 321,498 241,021 370,716 280,985
33,227,970 22,559,868 7,770,716 5,380,985

{ii) Liabilities refated to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following liabilities relating to contracts with customers;

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € £ €

Contract fiabilities {note 20):

Advance deposits — accommodation and related 1,403,806 1,480,950 - -
services

Deferred income — entertainment and related services 1,681,012 1,242,520 759,988 814,799
Deferred income ~ accommaodation and related 10,764 340,548 ~ -
services

Total contract liabilities 3,095,582 3,064,018 759,988 814,799

(i) Revenue recognised that was included in the deferred income balance at the beginning of the period
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting peried relates to carried-forward

contract liabilities:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € £
Hotel operations 1,821,498 1,955371 - -
Entertainment and related services 1,336,200 333,977 45,572 52,919
3,157,698 2,289,348 45,572 52,919
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5. Other operating income

Rentat lncome
Interest income

6. Investment income

Dividend income

7. Finance costs

Interest on bank overdraft and borrowings
Interest on other loans

Borrowing transaction costs

Interest on lease liability

8. Expenses by nature

Entertainment and operations direct costs
Hospitality operations direct costs
Wages and salaries {note 9]
Directors’ remuneration [note 9)
Directors’ fees (note 9)

Utility expenses

Advertising and promotion
Repairs & maintenance

Royalty fee

Dperating |ease costs

Other expenses

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
1,057,205 1,165,862 973,877 1,020512
34,911 36,279 34,911 42,298
1,092,116 1,202,141 1,008,788 1,062,810
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € 3
- - 303,791 -
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € 3
293,485 300,163 293,485 300,163
1,600,000 1,600,000 1,680,000 1,680,000
47,126 47,126 47,126 47,126
76,741 78,334 - -
2,017,352 2,025,623 2,020,611 2,027,28%
Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
1,431,596 1,131,375 - -
5,062,429 3,279,799 50,748 2,691
9,978,041 5,711,294 - -
856,591 534,123 276,623 266,543
89,000 89,000 56,000 56,000
1,678,638 1,072,226 163,160 116,745
1,038,771 704,836 3,650 N
867,754 681,377 160,933 26,339
1,018,144 776,337 - -
16,161 2,966 - =
3,234,061 2,407,652 499,085 419,352
25,271,186 16,390,985 1,210,199 887,670
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8. Expenses by nature {continued)

Profit/(Loss) before tax for the Group is stated after charging the following fees in relation to services provided by the external
auditors of the Group.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € €
Total remuneration payable to the company’s auditors for:
- Audit services 38,284 35,711 8,226 8,153
- Other services 8,427 8,427 5,027 5,027
45,711 45,138 13,253 13,180
9. Staff costs and employee information
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Gross wages, salaries and directors’ fees 11,851,903 9,286,417 3,436,722 2,668,771
Social security costs 710,341 562,289 152,735 131,432
12,562,244 9,848,706 3,589,457 2,800,203
Recharged to subsidiaries - - {2,838,926) (1,616,131}
Government grant {1,638,612) {3,514,289) {417,908) {861,529}
10,923,632 6,334,417 332,623 322,543

In both years, the Group has been awarded government grants related to a wage subsidy programme introduced in Malta in
response to the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic. The Group was entitled to the wage subsidy because it had to shut down or
curtail its operations. The grant was recognised in the income statement and net off with wages and salaries, presented within
‘direct costs’. The grant was last received in May 2022.

The average number of persans employed during the year, including non-executive directors, was made up as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Number Number Number Number
Administrative 59 47 24 20
Operational 426 337 85 70
Directors 9 g 4 4
494 393 113 94
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10. Tax charge/(credit)

Deferred tax charge/(credit)
Current tax charge

The tax expense and the tax charge using the statutory
income tax rate of 35% are reconciled as follows

Profit/|Loss) before taxation

Tax charge at 35%

Depreciation charges not deductible for tax purposes
by way of capital allowances

Expenditure disallowed for tax purposes

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Deferred tax movement not recognised in prior year
Income taxed at a reduced tax rate

Additional allowable deductions

Other movernents

Tax charge/{credit)

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
1,118,403 {61,894) 676,293 {530,153}
61,195 61,150 144,508 58,084
1,179,598 {744} 820,801 {472,069)
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € 3
2,351,562 975,428 1,336,881 {564,313)
823,047 341,400 467,908 {197,510)
246,791 56,020 219,465 28,692
5,169 1,258 3,710 -
5,788 {60,919} 5,788 {60,919)
272,318 {152,342} 272,074 {105,841)
(81,591} {81,220} {103,491} {77,445)
{91,924} {83,561} (44,653} {37,666)
- {21,380} - {21,380)
1,179,598 {744) 820,801 {472,069)
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Furniture, Other
::;:i:n: Fixtures &  Eguipment Ec ot:?pmu:it‘ Vh::ltc T;s Fixed Total
& Fittings quip Assets
€ € € € € € £
Cost/Valuation
As at 1% January 2021 142,212,315 21,942,371 17,518,729 2,469,377 355,285 13,400,491 198,298,568
Additicns 150,830 748,890 142,584 11,852 - 168,548 1,222,744
Disposals - - {31,000} {48,561) - - {79,561)
As at 1# January 2022 142,363,145 22,681,261 18,030,313 2,432,708 355,285 13,569,039 199,441,751
Additions 633,529 812,679 472,825 25,710 - 385,831 2,330,572
Disposals - - {904,100 - - - (904,100)
Revaluation 30,595,123 - - - - - 30,595,123
As at 315t December 2022 173,591,797 23,503,940 17,599,038 2,458,418 355,285 13,954,870 231,463,348
Depreciation
As at 1¥ January 2021 5,619,685 13,745,129 14,270,658 2,059,094 329,866 10,745,611 46,769,744
Depreciation charge 799,017 1,428,333 1,046,005 147,571 10,988 647,874 4,079,788
Eliminated on disposals - - {31,600} 26,924) - - {57.924)
As at 1%t January 2022 6,418,703 15,173,462 15,285,663 2,179,741 340,554 11,393 485 50,791,608
Depreciation charge 803,837 1,458,650 1,012,503 155,071 6,802 675,078 4,111,941
Eliminated on disposals - - {405,067} - - - {405,067)
As at 31% December 2022 7,222,590 16,632,112 15,893,099 2,334,812 347,35¢ 12,068,563 54,498,482
Net Book Value
As at 31 December 2022 166,369,257 6,871,828 1,705,939 123,606 7929 1,886,307 176,964,866
As at 1% January 2022 135,944,442 7,517,799 2,744,650 252,967 14,731 2,175,554 148,650,143
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company
Furniture, Other
;:?:;Ian: Fixtures & Equipment EC o';'l:::;rt vl:‘:; T;s Fixed Total
ne Fittings quip Assets
€ € £ € £ £ €
Cost/Valuation
As at 1% lanuary 2021 135,296,370 21,487,995 17,624,375 2,336,428 334,312 13,396,018 150,475,498
Additions 150,830 748,890 142,583 11,890 - 168,548 1,222,741
Disposal - - {31,000) - {13,850} - {50,850)
As at 13 January 2022 135,447,200 22,236,885 17,735,958 2,348,318 314,462 13,564,566 191,647.38%
Additions 213,529 812,669 472,825 25,710 - 388,834 1,910,567
Disposals - - {304, 100} - - - {904, 100)
Revaluation 23,451,068 - - - - — 23,451,068
As at 315t December 2022 159,111,797 23,045,554 17,304,683 2,374,028 314,462 13,950,400 216,104,924
Depreciation
As at 1t January 2021 5238469 13,331,912 14,006,062 1,962,102 314,257 10,742,136 45,594,938
Depreciation charge 715,818 1,428,056 1,046,005 141,653 205 647,875 3,979,612
Eliminated on disposals - - {31,000} - - - {31,000
As at 15t January 2022 5,954,287 14,759,968 15,021,067 2,103,755 314,462 11,390011 49,543,550
Depreciation charge 720,638 1,458,373 1,012,503 148,153 - 675,078 4,015,745
Eliminated on disposals - - {405,067) - - - {405,067}
As at 315 December 2022 6,674,925 16218341 15,628,503 2,252,908 314,462 12,065089 53,154,228
Net Book Value
As at 315 December 2022 152,436,872 6,831,213 1,676,180 121,120 - 1,885,311 162,950,696
As at 1#t January 2021 129,492,913 7,476,917 2,714,891 244,563 - 2,174,555 142,103,839

Land and buildings held by the Group and the Company, with a carrying amount of €81,425,777 (2021: €103,137,627) are
pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings.

Page 39



EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31" DECEMBER 2022

11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Fair value of property

The Group is required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy within which, the
recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety (Level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy
have been defined as fair value measurements using:

. Quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);

. Inputs other than guoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices} {Level 2}; and

. Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) {Level 3}.

All the recurring property fair value measurements at 31 December 2022 and 2021, as applicable, use significant unobservable
inputs and are accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the beginning of the reporting period.
There were no transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the current and preceding financial years.

Valuation techniques

The Group’s land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment, consist of two hatel properties, one cinema complex, one
bowling alley, health and fitness club and a car park that are owned and managed by the Group companies. The Group obtains
independent valuations for its freehold land and buildings at least every five years. In addition to the revaluations carried out on
Group’s properties, the Group's investment properties, which comprise two properties that are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, are measured at fair value on an annual basis as required by 1AS 40.

At the end of each reporting period, the directors update their assessment of the fair value of each property, considering the most
recent independent valuations. The directors determine a property’s value within a range of reasonable fair value estimates. The
best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such information is not available, the
directors consider information from a variety of sources.

The Group’s properties were valued using the discounted cash flow approach. When using this technique, the significant
uncbservable inputs include:

Earnings before interest, tax, Based on projected income streams taking into consideration historical results and market
depreciation, and amortisation expectations,

(EBITDA)

Growth rate Based en management's estimated average growth of the company’s EBITDA, mainly

determined by projected growth in income streams;

Discount rate Reflecting the current market assessment of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of
projected cash flows. The discount rate reflects the estimated weighted average cost of
capital that would be available to a Reasonably Efficient Operator (REQ) for financing such
an operation. The discount rate is based on an assumed debt to equity ratio; estimation of
cost of eqguity is based on risk free interest rates adjusted for country risk and equity risk
premium; estimation of cost of debt is based on risk free interest rates adjusted for country
risk and assumed credit spread.

Investment properties were valued using a capitalisation rate approach, whereby the rental price per square meter is used as the
measure to calculate the properties’ net operating income.
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11. Property, plant and equipment {continued)
Valugtion processes

In 2022, management carried an assessment for those properties measured in accordance with the revaluation model under IAS
16, to determine whether a material shift in fair value had occurred.

Where management, through its assessment, concludes that the fair value of its properties differ materially from its carrying
amount, and at least every 5 years, an independent valuation report prepared by third party gualified valuers, is performed. The
report is based on information provided by the Group. The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions
and the valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the directors. This includes a review of the fair value movement
over the period. The directors consider whether the valuation report is appropriate to revalue the Company’s property,

During the year, the Group’s property (land and buildings together with all other integral assets) was revalued by an independent
professional qualified valuer. The land and buildings together with all other integral assets were valued by Perit Ivan Muscat
{architect and structural engineer). The valuation was based on potential development and discounted cashflow.

For investment properties, the Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the
property atthe end of every financial year. The Group’s investment property comprises a commercial property and Casino Malta,
leased out on non-cancellable leases that have remaining lease terms ranging between one to four years,
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EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

12. Property, plant and equipment under development

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
As at 1" lanuary 320,958 320,958 320,958 320,958
Additions 4,320,246 - 4,320,246 -
As at 31 December 4,641,204 320,958 4,641,204 320,958
13. Leases
This note provides information for [eases where the Group is a lessee. For leases where the Group is a lessor, see note 14.
{i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:
Group
2022 2021
€ £
Right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 1,391,79G 1,435,283
Motor vehicles 31,629 55,634
1,423,419 1,490,917
Lease liabilities
Current 25,764 37,115
Non-current 1,537,372 1,563,137
1,563,136 1,600,252

There were no additions to the right-of-use assets during the financial year {2021: £ 32,673).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 315 DECEMBER 2022

13, Leases {continued)
(i} Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or foss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Group
2022 2021
€ €

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 43,481 189,995
Motor vehicles 24,005 24,005

67,486 214,000
Interest expense {included in finance cost) 76,741 78,334
Gain on termination of lease agreement = {59,496)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was €113,857 {2021: £194,531).
{ii)  The Group's leasing activities and how these gre accounted for

The Group leases land, buildings and vehicles, The Group’s rental contracts are for fixed periods of 3 to 50 years, but may have
extension options as described in [v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
da not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
hy the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

. Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

. Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. Amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

. The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain 1o exercise that option; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the iease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
the case for leases in the Group except for motor vehicle leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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13. Leases {continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. Where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received; and
. Makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and security.

The Group is exposed to patential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are notincluded
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate, take effect, the lease
iiability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
50 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
. Any initial direct costs, and

. Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life. While the Group revalue its land and buildings that are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen
not to do so for the right-of-use land and buildings heid by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise photo
copying and printing equipment.

Covid-18-related rent concessions

During the prior year, the Group negotiated rent concessions with its langlord for property used as staff accommodation as a result
of the severe impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group applied the practical expedient for COVID-19-related rent concessions
consistently to eligible rent concessions. The amount recognised in profit or Joss for the reporting period to reflect changes in lease
payments arising from rent concessions to which the Group has applied the practical expedient for COVID-19-related rent
concessions in 2021 amounted €62,500.

fiv)  Varigble lease payments

The Group’s leases do not contain variable payment terms,

fv) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in the Group’s property [eases, These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The extension and termination aptions held are exercisable only

by the Group and not by the respective lessar.

in 2021, the Group terminated one of the lease agreements and thus, a gain on early termination amounting to €59,496 was
recognised in profit or loss for the reparting period.
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14, investment property

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
As at 1* January 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000
Impairment - - - -
As at 31" December 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000 16,750,000

Investment property held by the Group and the Company, with a carrying amount of €14,000,000 (2021: €14,000,000} are pledged
as security for current and non-current borrowings.

Investment property is valued annually on 31 December at fair value comprising open market value approved hy the directors on
the basis of a professional valuation prepared by an independent architect. Fair value disclosures are included in note 11.

{i) Amounts recagnised in prafit or loss for investment properties

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € £
Rental income from operating leases 807,032 706,363 807,032 706,363

{is) Leasing arrangements

The Group and the Company's investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable on a
monthly or quarterly basis. Lease payments for some contracts include fixed annual increases, but there are no variable lease
payments that depend on an index.

During 2021, the Group waived & number of contracted lease payments receivable due to tenants’ forced closures or loss of
business emanating from COVID-19. On the date of agreeing to such waivers, amounting to €182,912, the Group recognised their
impact as a madification to the original lease arrangements. This has the effect of recognising the waiver as a reduction in lease
income throughout the remaining lease term.

The future minimum operating lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €

Within 1 year 829,339 936,563 829,339 936,563
Between 1 and 2 years 843,495 829,339 843,495 829,339
Between 2 and 3 years 799,127 843,495 799,127 843,495
Between 3 and 4 years 67,296 799,127 67,296 799,127
Between 4 and 5 years 30,050 67,296 30,090 67,296
Later than 5 years - 30,090 - 30,090

2,569,347 32,505,910 2,569,347 3,505,910
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15. Interests in subsidiaries and other entities

Company . Shares in
Shares in .
= associates and Total
subsidiaries .
joint venture

€ € €
At 1% January 2021 2,576,130 225,642 2,801,772
Additions 100,000 = 100,000
At 31% December 2021 2,676,130 225,642 2,901,772
The net book value as at 31* December 2021 comprises:

€ € €
Cost 2,676,130 575,048 3,251,178
Impairment - {349,406) (349,406)
At 31° December 2021 2,676,130 225,642 2,901,772
Company Shares in Sha-res in

T associates and Total
subsidiaries . .
joint venture

€ € €
At 1% January 2022 2,676,130 225,642 2,901,772
At 31% December 2022 2,676,130 225,642 2,901,772
The net book value as at 31** December 2022 comprises:

€ € €
Cost 2,676,130 575,048 3,251,178
Impairment - {349,406) {349,406)
At 31 December 2022 2,676,130 225,642 2,901,772

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation, whilst investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, as disclosed in the Group’s accounting policies.

In 2021, the Group acquired an additional 14.82% of the issued share capital of Eden Esports Limited, following a share issuance
by the investee that was fully subscribed to by the Groug's parent. The Group derecognised €97,184 of non-controlling interest
and recognised the corresponding amount within equity.

Page 47



EDEN LEISURE GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31°" DECEMBER 2022

15. Interests in subsidiaries and other entities (continued}

Shares in Group and associated undertakings represent the following investments;

Group

Eden Finance p.l.c.

Eden Entertainment
Limited

Eden Super Bow! Limited

Eden Hospitality Limited

Eden Esports Limited

Associates

Axis Limited

Sunny Resorts Limited

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associates is set out below:

Opening net book value
Additions
Impairment

Registered address

Eden Place
St. Augustine Street
5t. George's Bay
Eden Place
St. Augustine Street
St. George's Bay
Eden Place
St. Augustine Street
St. George’s Bay
Eden Place
St. Avgustine Street
5t. George's Bay
Eden Place
St. Augustine Street
St. George’s Bay

Eden Place
St. Augustine Street
St. George's Bay

Share of losses of associated and undertakings (after tax)

Net assets

Group share of net assets

St. George’s Road, 5t. Julian’s

Principal activity

Finance Company

Entertainment operating

company

Entertainment operating

company

Hotel management company

Entertainment operating

company

Management property company 50.00

Management property company 33.33

2022 2021
% hotding % holding

93.99 598,99

99.99 99.99

99.99 39.99

99.99 99.99

59.82 99.82

50.00

33.33

Group
2022 2021
€ 3

717,289 717,795
(698) {506)
716,591 717,289
2,149,996 2,151,892
716,591 717,289
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16. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €

Non-current
Amounts owed by associates and joint venture {ii) 58,312 56,887 58,312 56,887
Amounts owed by commaonly controlled entities (i) 354,616 334,882 354,616 334,882
Other receivables due from commonly controlled 4,062,773 5,586,183 4,062,773 5,586,183

entity (iii)
4,475,701 5,977,952 4,475,701 5,977,952
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Current

Trade receivables 2,245,972 1,406,092 105,260 24,806
Amounts owed by subsidiaries {i) - - 4,382,614 6,731,398
Amounts owed by associates and joint venture {ii) 16,992 - 7,966 -
Amounts owed by commonly controlled entities {ii} 132,266 359,119 21,673 340,819
{Oi;;w.r receivables due from commenly controlled entity 1,091,940 998,531 1,091,940 998,531
Other receivahles 307,945 1,544,842 145,107 444,826
Prepayments and accrued income 669,451 643,399 470,319 464,407
Amounts due from third parties 483,685 69,378 483,685 69,378
4,948,251 5,021,361 6,708,564 9,074,165
i) Amounts owed by subsidiaries relate to operating fees charged by the Company. They are unsecured, interest free and

repayable based on the credit terms agreed between the parties.

{ii} Amounts owed by associates, joint venture and commaonly controlled entities are unsecured, interest free and are
repayable on demand. These amounts are net of a provision of €349,059 (2021: £349,059),

(ii}  These amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable in accordance with terms agreed by the parties.

The Group and Company assess whether any loss allowance is required on its financial assets as set out in the accounting policies
and note 31.
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17. Inventories

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Food, beverage and consumables 284,262 255,946 - -
Crockery and linen 1,660,457 1,641,659 1,648,579 1,629,781
Other inventories 178,368 179,016 178,368 178,368
2,123,087 2,076,621 1,826,947 1,808,149

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31% December 2022 amounted to €1,189,587 (2021: €789,847). These
were included in direct costs.

18. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income {FVOCI) comprise:

* Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal, and interest and the objective of the Group's business
model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

* Equity securities which are not held for trading and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise
the category. These are strategic investments and the Group considers the classification to be more relevant.

(i) Debt investments at foir value through other comprehensive income
These comprise investments in listed bonds in the local market, On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance
within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss within ‘Gains/(losses) reclassified to profit or loss’ upon derecagnition

of financial.
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € €

Non-current assets

At 1% January 1,081,963 843,050 1,081,963 843,050
Additions - 300,000 - 300,000
Fair value movemenFs rfacogmsed in (108,601) (61,087) {108,601 (61,087)

other camprehensive income
At 31* Decemnber 973,362 1,081,963 573,362 1,081,963

i) Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity investments at FVOCI comprise an investment in Roundhill Bitkraft Esports & Digital Enter Etf and Roundhill Sports
Betting & IGaming Etf and has a carrying amount of €135,112 (2021: €222,013).

On disposal of these equity investments, any related balance within FVOC! reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.

The Group's and Cormpany’s exposure to financial risks on this instrument is provided in note 31.
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19. Deferred Taxation

Deferred taxes are calculated on ail temporary differences under the liability method using 2 principal tax rate of 35% / 10% (2021;
35% / 10%). The movement in the deferred tax account is as foliows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €

At the beginning of the year (13,808,348) {13,870,242) (14,171,680) {13,266,833)
Recognised in profit or loss:
Movement in absorbed tax losses and capital {1,090,529) {331,334) {515,981) {1,258, 125)
allowances

Movemnent in effect of provisions 10,409 17,974 - 15,206
Movement |.n tAhe excess of capital allowances (48,917) 336,987 (48,746} 338,072
over depreciation
Movement in fair value of investment property - - - -
Movement in fair value of debt instrument
recognised at FYTOCI 38,0711 - 38,071 -
Movement in right-of-use asset 10,634 38,267 - -
Effect due to revaluation of assets {3,059,512) - {2,345,107) -
At the end of the year (17,948,192) (13,808,348} {17,043,443) {14,171,680)

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € £
Effect recognised in:
Deferred tax movement recognised in
e & 1,118,403 (61,894) 564,727 (530,153)

profit or loss {note 10)

Deferred tax. mqvement recognised other 3,021,041 N 2,307,036 _
comprehensive income {note 24)

Transfer of ioss in statement of financial position - - 111,566 1,435,000

4,139,844 {61,894) 2,983,329 904,847
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19. Deferred Taxation {continued)

The following amounts are shown in the halance sheet:

Deferred tax assets

Unabsarbed tax losses and capital allowances
Effect of provisions

Right-of-use asset

Effect of excess of capital allowances over
depreciation

Deferred tox liabilities

Effect due to fair value movement of investment

property

Effect due to revaluation of property, plant and

equipment

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:

Defarred tax asset
Deferred tax liability

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € £
918,006 2,008,535 491,498 1,007,477
341,763 293,283 308,359 270,288
48,901 38,267 - -
(724,254) {675,337} (694,383} {645,635)
584,416 1,664,748 105,474 632,130
(1,675,000 {1,675,000) {1,675,000) {1,675,000)
(16,857,608) {13,798,096) {15,473,917) 13,128,810)
(18,532,608] (15,473,096) (17,148,917) {14,803,810)
(17,948,192) {13,808,348) {17,043,443) {14,171,680)
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
584,416 1,664,748 105,474 632,130
(18,532,608) (15,473,096) {17,148,917) {14,803,810)
(17,948,192} {13,808,348) {17,043,443) 14,171,680}
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20. Trade and other payables

Falling due within one year

Trade payables

Capital payables

Amgounts owed to subsidiaries and other related entities (i)
Accruals

Advanced deposits and deferred income (note 4)

Other payabies

Falling due after more than one year
Advanced deposits and deferred income (note 4)
Other payables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € £

3,857,674 4,239,791 195,108 130,164
632,266 359,315 632,266 359,315
25,437 10,147 168,820 10,197
3,089,303 3,729 147 900,181 414,652
2,364,817 2,271,874 29,223 45572
1,925,832 3,092,264 798,167 2,335,599
11,896,329 13,702,538 2,723,765 3,295,499
730,765 792,144 730,765 769,227
1,032,648 768,831 512,885 -
1,763,413 1,560,975 1,243,650 768,227

(i) Amounts owed to subsidiaries and other related entities are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

21. Current income tax liability

Opening balance

Tax charge for the year
Tax at source

Tax payment

Closing balance

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € 3
56,050 45,886 52,984 43,110
61,195 61,150 144,508 58,084
- - {83,750) -
(61,053) (50,986} (58,222) {48,210)
56,192 56,050 55,480 52,984
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22. Borrowings

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Falling due within one year
Bank ioans {i) 3,241,145 3,208,602 3,241,145 3,208,602
3,241,145 3,208,602 3,241,145 3,208,602
Falling due after more than one year
Bank loans (i) 5,679,030 8,894,733 5,679,030 8,894,733
Related company ioans (ii) - - 39,795,789 39,748,663
Bonds {iii) 39,795,789 38,748,663 - -
45,474,819 48,643,396 45,474,819 48,643,386
Total borrowings 48,715,964 51,851,998 48,715,964 51,851,998

The bank loans and the debts securities/related company loans are disclosed at the value of the proceeds less the net book amount
of the transaction costs as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € 3 €

Face value of bonds/related company loans

Bonds/Refated company loans 40,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000
Issue costs (471,258) {471,258) (471,258) {471,258)
Accumulated amortisation 267,047 219,921 267,047 219,921
Net book amount (204,211) {251,337) (204,211) {251,337}
Amortised cost 39,795,789 39,748,663 39,795,789 39,748,663
(i) The bank overdraft and bank loans are secured by general hypothecs and a special privilege over the Group’s assets, The

Group's and Company’s overdraft banking facilities as at 31* December 2022 amounted to €5,678,790 (2021: €5,678,790}
for the Group, and €2,000,000 (2021: €2,000,000) for the Company. In the prior year, the Group negotiated a moratorium
on payment of bank loans until March 2022.

(i) These represent funds raised by the Company’s subsidiary through 2 bond issue, which have been advanced to Eden Leisure
Group Limited at an annual interest rate of 4.2% (2021: 4.2%) per annum. The loan is due for repayment in full on the 28
April 2027, This ioan is unsecured.
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22. Borrowings {continued)

(i) By virtue of the Prospectus dated 27 March 2017, Eden Finance p.l.c. issued for subscription by the general public 400,000
unsecured bonds having a nominal value of €100 each for an aggregate principal amount of £40,000,000. These bonds have

been issued at par.

The bonds are subject to a fixed interest rate of 4% per annum payable on the 28 April of each year up to redemption date.

All bonds, unless previously purchased and cancelled, will be redeemed on 28 April 2027.

The bonds are subject to the terms and conditions in the prospectus and are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. The quoted
market price as at 31* December 2022 for the 4% unsecured Bonds was €99.45 (2021; €101.66). The directors are of the
apinion that this price represents the fair value of these liabilities; as at balance sheet date, the fair value of the bonds
therefore amounts to €39,780,000 (2021: €40,664,000}. The fair value calculation is classified within Level 1 of IFRS 13's

fair value hierarchy.

Interest rate exposure
At floating rates
At fixed rates

Total borrowings

Weighted average effective interest rates
at the balance date:

Bank overdrafts

Bank loans — variable rate

Bonds/related party loan

Maturity of long-term borrowings:
Between 1 and 5 years
Over S years

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
8,920,175 12,103,335 8,920,175 12,103,335
39,795,789 39,748,663 39,795,789 39,748,663
48,715,964 51,851,998 48,715,964 51,851,998
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % %
4,95 4.00 4.95 4.00
2.84 2.73 2.84 273
4,20 4.20 4.20 4.20
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
45,474,819 8,141,906 45,474,819 8,141,906
- 40,501,490 - 40,501,450
45,474,819 48,643,396 45,474,819 48,643,396
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23. Share capital

Authorised share capital
12,057,600 “A” Ordinary shares of €2.50 each
13,942,400 "B” Ordinary shares of €2.50 each

Issued share capital
12,057,600 “A” Ordinary shares of €2.50 each
11,942,400 “B” Ordinary shares of €2.50 each

The ordinary A shares and ordinary B shares issued by the Company rank pari passu in all respects.

24. Revaluation Reserve

As at 1°* January

On fair value through OCI
Change in FV of debt and equity instrument at

FVTOCI

Deferred tax liability arising on change in FV of debt
and equity instrument at FVTOCI

Gain on revaluation of property

Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation of
property

As at 31 December

Company
2022 2021
€ £
30,144,000 30,144,000
29,856,000 29,856,000
60,000,000 60,000,000
Company
2022 2021
€ €
30,144,000 30,144,000
29,856,000 29,856,000
60,000,000 60,000,000
Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
33,490,911 33,551,998 30,385,506 30,446,593
{108,775) (61,087) {108,775) {61,087)
38,071 - 38,071 -
30,595,123 - 23,451,068 =
(3,059,512) - (2,345,107) =
60,955,818 33,490,911 51,320,763 30,385,506

The revaluation reserve was created on the revaluation of the Group’s and Company’s property plant and equipment. The

revaluation reserve is a non-distributable reserve.
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25, Fair value gain reserve

This reserve represents changes in fair value, net of deferred tax, on the investment properties held by the Group for long-term
rental yields. Movement in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of ‘fair value gains on investment property’.
Information about the valuation process of the investment property is disclosed in note 14 to these financial statements.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € £ 3
As at 1% January 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734
As at 31* December 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734 4,539,734
The reserve is considered to be a non-distributable reserve.
26, Dividend distribution
Company
2022 2021
€ €
Final dividend - -
Interim dividend 2,500,000 -
Total net dividend 2,500,000 -
Euro per share {net) €0.104 -

A net interim dividend of €1,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31* December 2022 was approved on 15* June 2022 and a
second net interim dividend of €1,500,000 in respect of the same year was approved on 14™ November 2022.

27.Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Cash in hand and bank 4,347,493 9,776,834 2,163,063 4,686,260
4,347,493 8,776,834 2,169,063 4,686,260

The balances of cash and cash equivalents are available for use by the Group and Company in their entirety.
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28. Related party transactions

During the course of the year the Group and the Company entered into transactions with related parties. These transactions have
been carried at arm's length. The related party transactions in question were:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € €
Revenue
Subsidiagries
Operating fees - - 7,400,000 5,100,000
Other sundry services - - 69,881 69,881

Commonly controlied entity
Entertainment and related services 98,756 69,868 - -

Other operating income
Commonly controlled entities
Rental income 631,644 506,836 631,644 506,836

Profit on sale of intellectual property
Commonly controlled entities

Sale of intellectual property - = = 25

730,400 576,704 8,101,525 5,676,717

Other operating expenses
Commonly controlled entities
Royalty fee 1,082,319 776,337 - -

Related parties outside the group
Consultancy fee 145,833 52,388 145,833 52,388

Finance costs
Subsidiaries
Interest on other loans - - 1,680,000 1,680,000

Key management personnel include the Group CEO and CFO and directors on subsidiary entities. Key management compensation,
consisting of directors’ remuneration, has been disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

Amounts due from/to Group and related parties, in connection with advances, sales and purchases transactions, are disclosed in
notes 16 and 20. in the Company’s books, amounts due to a subsidiary in connection with Group financing activities are disclosed
in note 22 to these financial statements.
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29. Commitments

Capital expenditure
Commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in these financial statements are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ £ € £
Authorised but not contracted 13,956,849 - 13,956,849 -
Contracted but not provided for 13,257,343 405,921 13,257,343 405,921

After year-end, the Company was granted €25 million in bank barrowings to finance the above capital commitments.
Operating lease commitments where the Group company is a lessee
The Group leases land and vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within 3 years to S0 years. The leases have

varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

From 1 lanuary 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for these eases, except for short-term and Jow-value leases,
see note 13.

30. Contingent liabilities

At 31* December 2022, the Group and Company had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees and performance bonds
amounting to €23,336 (2021: €300,000} given to third parties.

At 31 December 2022 guarantees amounting to €3,778,779 {2021: €3,778,779} were given by the Company with regards to bank
facilities of subsidiaries and other related parties.
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31. Financial risk management

The Group’s activities potentially expose it 1o a variety of financial risks on its financial assets and financial liabilities. The key
components of financial risks to the Group are: market risk {namely, cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk},
credit risk and iiguidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, and quoted prices, will affect the Group's income or
financial position. The objective of the Group’s market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises on its interest-bearing borrowings, deposits held with ban ks, and debt investments.
Borrowings issued at variable rates, comprising bank borrowings, expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s
bank borrowings are subject to an interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the Bank's Base Rate and three-month
Euribor. The directors manitor the level of floating rate borrowings as a measure of cash flow risk taken on.

The Group has adopted a cautious risk policy with regards to interest rate fluctuation through the issue of a €40,000,000 ten-year
bond incurring interest of 4%. Debt securities issued at fixed rates, bank depasits and investments in FVOCI instruments
(comprising debt investments} expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Bank deposits and borrowings are carried at amortised cost. Accordingly, a shift in interest rates would not have an impact on
profit or loss or other comprehensive income.

A shift in interest rates on borrowings at variable rates and FYOCI debt investments will however have an impact on profit or loss
ar other comprehensive income. The directors consider the potential impact on the Group's profit or loss of a defined interest rate
shift of 1.5%, that is reasonably possible, at the end of the reporting period keeping all other variables constant, to amount to +/-
€100,000 {2021: +/- €100,000). The impact of a reasonably possible shift in interest rates is not expected to impact the fair value
of FVOC! financial assets materially and therefore the directors believe that the potential impact of such a shift on cother
comprehensive income is immaterial.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified at fair value through
other comprehensive income in the balance sheet. The Group diversifies its portfolio to manage its price risk. The Group's
investments are traded on the NYSEArca Stock Exchange.

A reasonable shift in the index in which the Group’s investments are traded is not expected to result in material impact on the
Group's equity.
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31. Financial risk management {continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, investments at FYOCI and FVPL, as well as credit risk
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The carrying amount of the financial
assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£ € € €

Carrying amounts
Financial assets at amortised cost 6,200,584 7,404,980 10,463,579 14,118,078
Trade and other receivables 2,553,917 2,950,934 250,367 469,632
Deposits - - - -
Cash at hand and in bank 4,347,493 9,776,832 2,169,063 4,686,260
Debt investments at FYOCI 973,362 1,081,963 973,362 1,081,963

14,075,356 21,214,711 13,856,371 20,335,933

Financial assets at amortised cost comprise of amounts owed by other reiated undertakings that do not form part of the Group as
described in note 16, These loans are unsecured; therefore, the failure of the related undertakings could have an impact on the
Group’s results.

The Group’s comparies bank only with local financial institutions with high quality standing or rating. The Group has no
concentration of eredit risk that could materially impact on the sustainability of its operations. However, in common with similar
business concerns, the failure of specific large customers could have a material impact on the Group’s results.

The Group assesses the credit quality of its customers taking into account financial position, past experience and other factors.
Standard credit terms are in place for individual clients, however, wherever possible, new corporate customers are analysed
individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and service delivery terms and conditions are offered. The
Group’s review includes external credit worthiness databases when available,

Impairment of financial assets

The Group's and the Cormpany's financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model include:

. Trade receivables and accrued income relating to the provision of services;

. Other financial assets at amortised cost, comprising inans receivable and amounts due from related parties and, in
the case of the Company, subsidiary undertakings;

] Debt investment carried at FYOCI;

. Deposits; and

. Cash and tash equivalents.
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31.Financial risk management (continued)

Trade receivables and accrued income

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables and accrued income.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and accrued income have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group has concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the accrued income since they have substantially the same characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroecanomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

Based on the assessment carried out in accordance with the above methodology, the identified expected credit loss allowance on
trade receivables and accrued income was deemed immaterial. The movement in loss allowances as at 31 Decemnber 2022 and
2021 is also deemed immaterial by management. On this basis, the information pertaining to loss rates and loss allowances in the
Group’s provisions matrix, which would have otherwise been required by IFRS 7, is not presented as at 31 December 2022 ang
2021.

Separately from the above methodology, the Group has also identified that a provision of €95,439 was required as at 31 December
2022 [2021: €65,700} with respect to counterparties which have been placed into liquidation or are in a difficult ecanomic
situation. The assessment on these individual counterparties did not have an impact an the identified loss rates and expected
credit losses identified on the rest of the Group’s trade receivables and accrued income.

Trade receivables and accrued income are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amangst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 1 year past due.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group's and the Company’s other financial assets at amortised cost which are subject to IFRS 9's general impairment model
include the foilowing balances:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € € €
Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 4,382,614 6,731,398
Amounts due from associates and joint venture 75,304 56,887 66,278 56,887
Amounts due from commaonly-controlled entities 486,882 694,001 376,289 675,701
Other receivables from commonly-controlled entities 5,154,713 6,584,714 5,154,713 6,584,714
Amounts due form third parties 483,685 69,378 483,685 69,378
6,200,584 7,404,980 10,463,579 14,118,078
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31. Financial risk management {continued}

The Group and the Company monitor intra-group credit exposures at individual entity level on a regular basis and ensure timely
performance of these assets in the context of its overall liquidity management. The loss allowances for these financial assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Company’s management uses judgement in making these
assumnptions, based on the counterparty’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the majority of loans with related parties were on terms that allowed the Group to request
repayment of the balance as at reporting date {i.e. repayable on demand). In such cases, when assessing the ECL, the directors
base their assessment on the assumption that the loan is demanded at the reporting date,

Where the counterparties’ financial position suggests that it does not have sufficient liquid assets at balance sheet date to repay
the loan if this is demanded, the probability of default is deemed to be 100%. Given that most of the related party refationships of
such balances are between entities under common control, the directors assess the loss given default of the balance by analysing
recovery strategies that the Group would allow, taking cognisance of such related party relationship. These recovery strategies
typically include a projection of the net cash flows emanating from allowing the counterparty to operate, incorporating multiple
forward-looking scenarios that take into account all reasonable and supportable information available to the Group. In the prior
year, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the directors adjusted the expected net cash flows emanating from recovery
strategies by stressing the cash flows to take into account the impact of loss of business due ta COVID-19 retated closures or
declines in business.

After making this analysis, the directors concluded that the resulting loss-given-default rates are low, such that when applied to
the PD x LGD x EAD methodology to calculate the IFRS 9 ECL allowance, the resulting impairment charge to be recognised in the
statement of profit and loss for the year was deemed to be immaterial (2021: €113,539).

Financio! ossets at FVOC!

The Company invests in listed debt and equity securities in the local and foreign market. The Company assesses the credit risk of
each debt security individually on a regular basis and recognises any impairment reguired using IFRS %'s general approach. As at
31 December 2022, the Company’s management have not identified any significant increases in credit risk pertaining to the bond
issuers with which the Company has invested. Accordingly, the Company uses a 12-month prabability of default to calcutate the
required provision. The default rates are based on information issued by known credit rating agencies.

The Company’s management have concluded, based on their assessment, that the required provision on such debt investmeants is
immaterial as at reporting date,

Cash at bank and deposits

The Group's cash, including both that classified as cash and cash equivalents, and as deposits, is placed with reputable financial
institutions, such that management does not expect any institution to fail to meet repayments of amaounts held in the name of the
companies within the Group. While cash and cash equivalents and deposits are also subject to the impairment requiremants of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was insignificant,

Liguidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its financial liabilities, which
comprise principally trade and other payables and interest-bearing borrowings disciosed in notes 20 and 22. Prudent liquidity risk
management includes maintaining sufficient cash and committed credit lines to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of
funding to meeting the Group’s obligations,
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31. Financial risk management {continued}

The directors monitor liquidity risk by means of cash flow forecasts on the basis of expected cash flows over a twelve-manth
period, in order 10 ensure that adequate funding is in place in order for the Group to be in a position to meet its commitments as
and when they will fall due.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is in a net current liability position of €2.82m. However, in light of the facilities in place,
management betieve that the Group has adequate resources to meet its obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the

end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

Graup Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
€ € £ £

Within one year
Trade and other payables 9,531,512 11,430,664 2,694,542 3,249,927
Current incame tax liability 56,192 56,050 55,480 52,984
Bank and other borrowings 3,480,440 3,489,156 3,480,440 3,489,156
Bonds 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
Lease liabilities 100,405 172,357 - -

14,768,549 16,748,227 7,830,462 8,392,067
Between 2 and 5 years
Trade and other payables 1,032,648 768,831 512,885 -
Bank and other borrowings 5,943,082 8,884,035 45,738,871 48,632,698
Bonds 46,400,000 6,400,000 46,400,000 6,400,000
Lease liabilities 377,172 389,983 - -

53,752,502 16,442,849 92,651,756 55,032,698
Over S years
Bank and other borrowings - 478,116 - 478,116
Bonds - 41,600,000 - 41,600,000
Lease liabilities 2,611,776 2,699,370 - -

2,611,776 44,777,486 - 42,078,116
71,133,227 77,968,562 100,482,218 105,502,881
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31. Financial risk management {continued)

The amount of trade and other payables, for both the Group and Company, classified as repayable within one year in the table
above, are contractually repayable on demand.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the balance sheet in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy. This hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in
measuring the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: Based on quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Based on information other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices); and

. Level 3: Information for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input to the
fair value measurement.

The key financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the balance sheet are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as
follows:

Group and Company

2022 2021
€ €
Level 1
Financiol assets ot foir value through other comprehensive income
- Listed Bonds 838,250 859,950
- Equity 135,112 222,013

973,362 1,081,963

Financial instrurments not measured at fair value

At 31* December 2022 and 31* December 2021 the carrying amounts of payables, receivables and short-term borrowings
approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. The fair values of long-term
borrowings, together with the related fair value disclosures, are presented in note 22.
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32, Capital management

33.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ahility to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt {borrowings as presented in note 22 after deducting cash and bank balances,
presented in note 27) and equity of the Group [comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests,
as presented in the Statement of Changes in Equity). The Group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements by bankers
of the Group. These requirements have been met.

The Group monitors the capital structure on a monthly basis by monitoring the balances of assets and liabilities.

Cash flow infarmation

The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows wili be, classified in
the Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Group As at 31* Other liability As at 31*
December 2021 Cashflows related changes December 2022
€ € € €
Bank borrowings 12,103,335 {3,183,160) - 8,920,175
Bonds 39,748,663 - 47,126 39,795,789
Lease liability 1,600,252 {36,702) {414) 1,563,136
53,452,250 (3,219,862} 46,712 50,279,100
Group As at 31% Other liability As at 31%
December 2020 Cashflows related changes December 2021
€ £ € €
Bank borrowings 12,679,245 {575,910) - 12,103,335
Bonds 39,701,537 - 47,126 39,748,663
Third party loans - - - -
Lease liability 1,878,195 {114,756) (163,187) 1,600,252
54,258,977 {690,666) (116,061} 53,452,250
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33. Cash flow information (continued)

Company

Bank borrowings

Related party loans

Company

Bank borrowings

Related party loans

34. Comparative figures

As at 31% Cashflows Other liability As at 31
December 2021 related changes Decernber 2022
€ € € €

12,103,335 (3,183,160} - 8,920,175
39,748,663 - 47,126 39,795,789
51,851,958 {3,183,160) 47,126 48,715,964
As at 31* Cashflows Other liahility As at 31°
December 2020 related changes December 2021
€ € £ €
12,679,245 (575,910) - 12,103,335
39,701,537 - 47,126 39,748,663
52,380,782 (575,910) 47,126 51,851,998

Certain comparative figures have been changed to comply with this year’s presentations.

35. Statutory information

Eden Leisure Group Limited is a limited liability Cempany and is incorporated in Malta.
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